**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**Hon. Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**C.A. No.: 2013-002266**

---

JASPER COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION .....Appellant

v.

JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL AND JASPER COUNTY AUDITOR..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

CHILDS & HALLIGAN, P.A.

Kenneth L. Childs, S.C. Bar No. 1217  
William F. Halligan, S.C. Bar No. 2607  
Keith R. Powell, S.C. Bar No. 69292

1301 Gervais Street, Suite 900  
P.O. Box 11367  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 254-4035  
Attorneys for Appellant

Other Counsel of Record:  
Marvin C. Jones  
Jasper County Attorney

## **I. STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Which political subdivision has the authority to determine the school operating tax levy and millage rate for the School District of Jasper County — the Jasper County Board of Education or the Jasper County Council?

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This declaratory judgment action was filed July 15, 2013, by the Jasper County Board of Education ("Board"). (R. pp. 10-20.) The Jasper County Council and Jasper County Auditor ("Council") filed an Answer and Counterclaim on August 30, 2013. (R. pp. 21-27.) The Board contends that it has the legal authority to determine the *ad valorem* millage rate for school operations for the Jasper County School District. The Council contends the opposite — that Council has the substantive authority to determine the school operating millage, not the Board.

The parties filed offsetting claims in the Complaint and a Counterclaim on the fundamental issue of the locus of this substantive authority under the relevant statutes, and also filed cross-motions for judgment on the pleadings. (R. pp. 31-35). On September 26, 2013, after hearing the motions, Judge Mullen issued the following declarations:

The Court finds and concludes that Code of Laws of South Carolina § 4-9-70 vests in the Jasper County Council the power to determine the school tax levy, and to determine by ordinance the method of establishing the school tax millage. ... (R. p. 8.)

A review of Act No. 982 of 1968, Act No. 601 of 1971, and of the Code of Laws of South Carolina § 4-9-70, reveals no express limitations on the discretion of the Jasper County Council's authority to make appropriations and to levy taxes or to establish a method of school tax millage. ... (R. pp. 8-9).

The Court finds that determination of the amount of the appropriation to the School District operating budget and determination of the millage to fund the school district's operating budget is within the discretion of Jasper

County Council subject to the exercise of good faith and for an appropriate purpose. ... (R. p. 9.)

[I]t is the judgment of the Court that Jasper County Council has been delegated the power to make appropriations and to levy taxes for the Jasper County School District annual operating budget and to determine by ordinance the method of establishing school tax millage. This delegation of power includes the right of Jasper County Council to exercise their discretion subject to the limitations of good faith and acting for an appropriate purpose. (R. p. 9.)

Further, in denying the Board's motion and entering judgment for the Council, the Court denied the Board's requests to implement a favorable declaration through injunction and *mandamus* directed to the Council and Auditor. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-120.

Upon receipt of the September 26, 2013, Order the Board filed its motion pursuant to S.C. R. Civ. P. 52(b) and 59(e) to alter or amend the judgment entered pursuant to the Order filed September 26, 2013. (R.36-39). Judge Mullen denied the Board's motion (R.10-11), and the Board appeals the judgment dated September 26, 2103 (R.3-9), and the order of October 2, 2013, denying the Board's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment Pursuant to S.C. R. Civ. P. 52(b) and 59(e). (R. pp. 1-2.)

### **III. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

In this case, the "facts" are essentially the subsisting statutes, the meaning of which is contested under the Declaratory Judgments Act.

By Act No. 982 of 1968, the General Assembly created a special entity called the Jasper County Council and established its powers and duties, including "to make appropriations and to levy taxes therefor for corporate purposes and for educational purposes...." S.C. Act No. 982 of 1968, § 6, ¶ 5.

The General Assembly subsequently passed S.C. Act No. 601 of 1971, pertaining to the Board, and re-adopted the pertinent language in S.C. Act No. 288 of 1989:

Section 2. In addition to those powers and duties of the county board of trustees now devolved on the board and those already provided for by general and special legislation, the board has the following powers and duties relative to the public schools of the district: ...

(5) determine and evaluate the educational program in the schools and provide a systematic program of curriculum development and revision designed to provide maximum educational opportunities for each child in the county; ...

(7) adopt a system of budgetary controls and annually adopt a budget, with power to revise when necessary, sufficient to meet the educational needs of the county;

(8) provide for the disbursement of all county, state, and federal educational funds received by the school district; ...

(12) borrow in anticipation of the collection of taxes, state or federal aid. ...; ...

(16) have prepared not more than ninety days from the end of each fiscal year, an audit prepared by a certified public accountant as to the operation of the public schools of Jasper County ...;

(17) pay any outstanding judgment against it when sufficient funds for this purpose are available;

(18) perform any other duties and responsibilities not inconsistent with local and state laws which may be necessary to meet the educational needs of the county.

The provisions pertaining to the Board's budgetary powers remained the same in Act 288 of 1989 as they had been in Act 601 of 1971.

The County Auditor's role and duty is ministerial; the Auditor,

after receiving statements of the rates and sums to be levied for the current year from the department and from other officers and authorities legally empowered to determine the rate or amount of taxes to be levied for the various purposes authorized by law, shall immediately proceed to determine the sums to be levied upon each tract and lot of real property and upon the amount of personal property, monies, and credits listed in his county in the name of each person.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-39-180. The Auditor then has the power and duty before each September 30 to "make up and complete the tax books of the county" and to prepare and deliver to the County Treasurer the county tax duplicate imposing *ad valorem* taxes. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 12-39-140, -150, -180, -190. The "county auditor's authority is limited to the calculation of taxes on individual tracts of real property. The auditor is not given any authority with regard to the overall tax rate, which is to be determined by the body with the authority to levy the tax." 2009 WL 3658269 (S.C.A.G. Oct. 27, 2009). The Board has no independent controversy with the Auditor, who is named solely on account of the effect of the declaration upon the ministerial levy of taxes once rates and sums are determined by law.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

##### **A. Summary of Argument**

---

This Court should vacate the declaratory judgment of the Circuit Court and enter a judgment granting the declaratory judgment requested by the Board. An issue regarding statutory interpretation is a question of law. *City of Rock Hill v. Harris*, 391 S.C. 149, 152, 705 S.E.2d 53, 54 (2011). In a case raising a novel question of law, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court. *Id.*

The sole statutory construction that harmonizes all statutory provisions and respects the State Constitution amendments of the 1970s is that the Board has exclusive educational responsibility and budgetary and taxing power and the Council has at most the ministerial duty to provide some method for the Board's budgeted *ad valorem* revenue and school operating rate to be included within the "statement of the rates and sums to be levied" transmitted to the County Auditor.

This construction harmonizes the pre-Home Rule special legislation for the county council (Act 982 of 1968) and the Jasper County special legislation for the Board (Act 288 of 1989) with the public education constitutional amendment (new Article XI of 1973), the local government "Home Rule" constitutional amendment (Article VIII of 1973), the Home Rule Act (1975), and the finance and taxation constitutional amendment (new Article X of 1977). The Council's 1968 discretionary authority to levy property taxes for education did not survive the combination of subsequent constitutional amendments and statutory enactments.

**B. Declaratory Judgments Act**

A justiciable controversy exists between the Board and the Council regarding their rights, status and other legal relations with regard to the authority to determine the annual local revenue budget and *ad valorem* tax rate of the School District. The Declaratory Judgment Act provides, in part, as follows:

- a. "Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare rights, status and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-20.
- b. An interested party whose, "... rights, status or other legal relations are affected by a statute ... may have determined any question of construction or validity arising under the ... statute, ... and obtain a declaration of rights, status or other legal relations thereunder." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-30.
- c. "Further relief based on a declaratory judgment or decree may be granted whenever necessary or proper." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-120.
- d. "When declaratory relief is sought all persons shall be made parties who have or claim any interest which would be affected by the declaration ...." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-80.

**C. Judgment on the Pleadings.**

This case turns on the meaning of statutes within our state constitutional structure, not the resolution of factual disputes. "A motion for Judgment on the Pleadings is proper where pleadings entitle a party to judgment without proof, by disclosure of all facts, where the pleadings present no issue of fact or present merely an immaterial issue." *Rosenthal v. Unarco Indus., Inc.*, 278 S.C. 420, 297 S.E.2d 638, 640 (1982). If, on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56. S.C. R. Civ. P. 12. The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases not requiring the services of a fact finder. *Cunningham v. Anderson Cnty.*, 402 S.C. 434, 441, 741 S.E.2d 545, 549 (Ct. App. 2013), reh'g denied (Feb. 27, 2013). This is one of those cases.

It is unclear if the Circuit Court meant to grant "judgment on the pleadings" or "summary judgment" although the Order does contemplate some historical facts outside the pleadings that were developed in limited pre-hearing discovery. In either case, the inquiry is purely legal. While the Board believes it was unnecessary for the Court to consider facts outside the pleadings, neither those findings nor any other additions to the factual record would have any material bearing upon the proper resolution of the case.

**D. County Authority Does Not Comport with Article XI**

School districts exist under "new" South Carolina Constitution Article XI, § 3, which provides that: "[t]he General Assembly shall provide for the maintenance and support of a system of free public schools open to all children in the state and shall establish, organize and support such other public institutions of learning, as may be

desirable." *Id.*, quoted in, *Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. Harrell*, 393 S.C. 552, 558, 713 S.E.2d 604, 607 (2011). Article XI, § 3 was ratified on February 21, 1973, S.C. Act No. 42 of 1973, two weeks before ratification of the local government Home Rule Amendment (Article VIII) on March 7, 1973, *infra*.

Thus, public education was a *state* function at the time Article VIII was revised. The separate nature of school districts under the new universe of political subdivision powers was confirmed promptly and in clear language by the Supreme Court:

Creation of different provisions for school districts does not impinge upon the 'home rule' amendment because public education is not the duty of the counties, but of the General Assembly. The General Assembly has not been mandated by any constitutional amendment to enact legislation to confer upon the counties the power to control the public school system. To the contrary, the command of new Article XI, Section 3, is 'The General Assembly shall provide for the maintenance and support of a system of free public schools.' ...

The contrast between Article XI and Article VIII should be obvious. In Article XI the General Assembly is charged with the duty to provide for a system of public education, whereas, in Article VIII the General Assembly is required to confer powers upon the counties so that they may carry out local functions. Moreover, a reading of Article XI, which deals specifically with public education, as a whole, in light of the historical background of public education in this State, and attempting to harmonize the entire Article and extract the impact of each section, it is clear that the provisions of Article VIII, which deal solely with local government, have no application to the matter currently before us.

*Moye v. Caughman*, 265 S.C. 140, 143-44, 217 S.E.2d 36, 37-38 (1975). Consistent with Article XI, § 3, there is a South Carolina School Code, S.C. Code Ann. § 59-1-10, the "purpose of [which] is to provide for a State system of public education and for the establishment, organization, and support of such State system." S.C. Code Ann. § 59-1-20. Under the School Code, the State Board of Education is given the state-wide governance function of the school system. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-5-60. Locally, "[e]ach

school district shall be under the management and control of the board of trustees." S.C. Code Ann. § 59-19-10.<sup>1</sup> Article XI, § 3 (along with Article X, *infra*) is the constitutional basis of the powers conferred upon the Board by Act 288 of 1989.<sup>2</sup>

**E. County Authority Does Not Comport with Article VIII (Home Rule)**

On March 7, 1973, the "Home Rule Amendment" to the South Carolina Constitution rewriting Article VIII was ratified. *Graham v. Creel*, 289 S.C. 165, 166, 345 S.E.2d 717, 718 (1986); *Neel v. Shealy*, 261 S.C. 266, 199 S.E.2d 542, 543 (1973). Section 1 of Article VIII provides: "The powers possessed by all counties, cities, towns, and other political subdivisions at the effective date of this Constitution shall continue until changed in a manner provided by law." *Id.* Thus, the pre-home rule county council continued to function under Act 982 of 1968.

However, change in the manner provided by law followed in 1975. The General Assembly enacted the "Home Rule Act," Act No. 283 of 1975, codified now as §§ 4-9-10 through 4-9-1230 of the Code of Laws. All county governments transitioned to the new uniform "home rule" system, S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-10, and Jasper County transitioned to the council-administrator form of county government. At this point,

[e]xcept as specifically provided for in this article [Article 7, Sections 4-9-610 to 670 concerning solely the county administrator form of county government] the structure, powers, duties, functions and responsibilities of county government under the council-administrator form shall be as

---

<sup>1</sup> In Jasper County the Board has both "county board of education" and "school board of trustees" powers and functions. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 59-19-100.

<sup>2</sup> Neither party claims the legislation concerning the Board violates S.C. Const. article III, § 34(IX), and the Board believes the correct statutory construction comports with the requirements for special legislation. *See, Home Builders Ass'n of S. Carolina v. Sch. Dist. No. 2 of Dorchester Cnty.*, 405 S.C. 458, 748 S.E.2d 230 (2013) (discussing public education special legislation history and principles generally). The Board does not however concede that any form taken by any future local legislation would not violate art. III, § 34(IX) and/or art. VIII, § 7.

prescribed in Article 1 [Sections 4-9-10 to 190] of this chapter."

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-670.

Thus, after July 1, 1976, the "powers, duties, functions and responsibilities" of the Jasper County Council were "prescribed" by the general, uniform statewide law of §§ 4-9-10 through 190, and not Act 982 of 1968. As a county government under Home Rule, Council may "levy ad valorem property taxes . . . and make appropriations for functions and operations of the *county* . . ." S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-30(5) (*emphasis added*). Of paramount importance, education is not included in the § 4-9-30(5) list of county functions.

As far as public education goes, the Home Rule Act is the beginning and the end of transition pursuant to Article VIII, § 1. In *Duncan v. York County*, 267 S.C. 327, 228 S.E.2d 92 (1976), the Court held that section 1 of Article VIII allowed the General Assembly to legislate to bring about an orderly transition to local home rule government, but that such authority was temporary and extended only so far as necessary to place Article VIII fully into operation. The General Assembly "fully implemented 'home rule' by passing the Home Rule Act." *Pickens Cnty. v. Pickens Cnty. Water and Sewer Auth.*, 312 S.C. 218, 221, 439 S.E.2d 840, 842 (1994); *Davis v. Richland Cnty. Council*, 372 S.C. 497, 502, 642 S.E.2d 740, 743 (2007). Unlike special purpose districts that performed functions previously forbidden to counties, public education is not a function that could be transitioned towards county government, either wholesale or through "one shot" acts. *Moye*, 265 S.C. at 143, 217 S.E.2d at 37. "The legislature by inaction cannot alter a constitutional mandate." 1983 WL 167255 (S.C.A.G. August 18, 1983) (*citing Harriss v. Shanahan*, 387 P.2d 771, 789 (Kan. 1963)).

The Attorney General's Office has said of *Moye* that, "this recognition that the legislature is vested with duties over education could possibly be read to restrict that body's power to relinquish its control to county councils." 1980 WL 120778 (S.C.A.G. July 22, 1980).

Thus, as far as the separation of public education and local governments go, the transition was effected with the Home Rule Act. Inconsistent acts commingling these functions did not survive any more than did lingering special acts creating the pre-Home Rule county governments in various counties.

**F. County Authority Does Not Comport with Article X**

For a long time, Article 10, § 6 of the South Carolina Constitution of 1895 "allowed the General Assembly to grant counties the power to levy taxes only for specific listed purposes such as ... education...." *Cornelius v. Oconee Cnty.*, 369 S.C. 531, 535 663 S.E.2d 492, 494 (2006); S.C. Const. art. X, § 6 (7 Code of Laws of S.C. 306 (1952)). Old § 6 provided that,

The General Assembly shall not have power to authorize any county or township to levy a tax or issue bonds for any purpose except for educational purposes, to build and repair public roads, buildings and bridges, to maintain and support prisoners, pay jurors, County officers, and for litigation, quarantine and court expenses and for ordinary County purposes, to support paupers, and pay past indebtedness[.]

Old § 5 of the Constitution provided that, "The corporate authorities of counties, townships, school districts, cities, towns and villages may be vested with power to assess and collect taxes for corporate purposes ...." S.C. Const. art. X, § 5 (7 Code of Laws of S.C. 276 (1952)). Thus, under the old regime in effect when Act 982 of 1968 was adopted, the Constitution recognized "counties, townships, and school districts as separate and distinct political subdivisions and each may be authorized to levy taxes for

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