THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAY 05 2014

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2013-002266

JASPER COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION.....Appellant

v.

JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL AND JASPER COUNTY AUDITOR.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

MARVIN C. JONES
Jasper County Attorney
South Carolina Bar No. 3201
Post Office Box 420
Ridgeland, SC 29936
Telephone No. 843-717-3689
Attorney for the Respondents
Jasper County Council and
Jasper County Auditor

Other Counsel of Record:
Childs & Halligan, P.A.
Kenneth L. Childs, S.C. Bar No. 1217

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

¹⁰ The Statutes to which we make reference in this paragraph may or may not reflect the current status of the fiscal autonomy of the Districts to which they refer. Nevertheless, they are useful because they illustrate language used by the General Assembly to extend fiscal autonomy to the named school districts at a particular point and time. That language may then be compared with the Jasper County School District's Statute, Act No. 601, 1971 S.C. Acts 1114 (1971).

(Berkeley County); Act No. 831 § 3, 1976 S.C. Acts 2402, 2402 (Georgetown County).

To illustrate this approach, in 1963, the General Assembly adopted Act No. 389, 1963 S.C. Acts 624 dealing with fiscal autonomy for the Marlboro County Board of Education.

The language is as follows:

Not later than August first of each year, the board of education shall direct the county auditor to levy and the county treasurer to collect all the millage necessary to meet that portion of the budget to be raised through direct ad valorem taxation, and such direction shall include any special levies which the board may approve under the provisions of Section 21-3514. The county auditor is hereby authorized and directed to levy, and the county treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to collect all such millage as may be directed in writing by the Marlboro Board of Education, pursuant to appropriate resolution by the board.

Act No. 389 § 7, 1963 S.C. Acts at 627

More abbreviated delegation language was used for the Board of Trustees of the Edgefield County School District. In Act No. 1019, 1963 S.C. Acts 2436, the Board of Trustees was given the authority to “[A]nnually, determine the necessary millage to be levied by the auditor and collected by the treasurer of the county to provide for the school budget which the board has prepared and approved.” In Act No. 340 § 10, 1967 S.C. Acts 470, 475 pertaining to Charleston County, the General Assembly instructed that “[I]n order to obtain funds for school purposes the board is authorized to impose an annual tax levy. . .” The language for Aiken County is somewhat similar. There, “the district may increase the millage above the millage levied in the preceding year as the governing board of the district determines is reasonable and necessary for the operations of the school district.” Act No. 173 Section 1, 1995 Act S.C. Acts 1431. Despite the variety in approaches, where the General Assembly has sought to extend to the governing body of a school district the power to tax, it has generally articulated that intent in

express terms related to the setting of millage or a tax levy. Each of the cited statutes is significantly different from the powers vested in the Jasper County Board of Education, which contains no such language.

Within the last two years two bills have been introduced in the General Assembly to give fiscal autonomy to the Jasper County School Board. Neither of these bills has been adopted. S.1556 introduced in the South Carolina Senate May 29, 2012, S. Journal, 119th Sess. (2011-12), http://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess119_2011-2012/bills/1556.htm and S.358 introduced in the South Carolina Senate February 7, 2013, S. Journal, 120th Sess. (2013-14), http://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess120_2013-2014/bills/358.htm. Admittedly, the fact that neither S.1556 nor S.358 was adopted by the General Assembly is of limited value for the Court in interpreting the meaning of Act No. 288, 1989 S.C. Acts 1685, amending Act No 601, 1971 S.C. Acts 1114. But what is instructive in these Bills is that they are unique examples that illustrate the kind of language that might be used by the General Assembly to give the Jasper County Board of Education fiscal autonomy.¹¹ For example, in relevant part, Section 1 of S.358 provides as follows:

Beginning with the year 2013, the county auditor of Jasper County, when directed and ordered by an appropriate resolution of the Jasper County Board of Education as the governing body of the Jasper County School District, shall impose for school purposes a county wide annual tax millage levy on all of taxable property in the county subject to either a school operating millage levy or a school debt service levy, or both. The millage levy for the year 2013 must be the same levy as that levied for 2012 by the Jasper County Council for K-12 educational purposes increased no more than eight mills unless approval for a higher increase is granted by the Jasper County Legislative Delegation. After 2013, the tax levy for school purposes each year may not be increased more than eight mills above the millage levy for school purposes for the previous fiscal year unless

¹¹ The real irony of S.1556 of 2012 and S358 of 2013 is that if enacted, either of these bills would have imposed substantial limitations on the discretion of the Jasper County School Board. Nevertheless, in this case the Board seeks from the Court unfettered taxing authority with far more discretion than they would have received from the General Assembly.

approved by a majority of the Jasper County Legislative Delegation. The annual levy must be designated as the county education fund tax. The district superintendent of education and the county treasurer shall open and enter in their books and records an account to be designated as the 'County Education Fund'. The county treasurer shall credit to the fund or account all the proceeds of the tax and any other money received for the county education fund or account and charge against the fund or account all proper vouchers drawn against it.

We have seen that since 1968, Jasper County Council has had the authority to make appropriations and to levy taxes for educational purposes. Act No. 982, 1968 S.C. Acts at 2372. Based upon the record below, the Circuit Court found that at the time of the adoption of the Council – Administrator form of government, Jasper County Council was appropriating funds and setting the millage rate for the Jasper County school operating budget in the County's budget ordinance. That finding is consistent with the Affidavit of the Jasper County Clerk to Council, Judith M. Frank, dated August 28, 2013, R. p. 90. The Court below had before it proof that as a matter of fact it was establishing "such millage at the time one of the alternative forms of government provided . . . becomes effective." S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-70 (1986). The School Board has directed the attention of the Court to no statute that extends to it the power to impose a tax on the people of Jasper County. It has not been given the power to set millage or impose a tax in the language that has been customarily used by the General Assembly. Bills filed in the General Assembly to give that power to the Board have not been enacted. Moreover, the School Board has offered no evidence that as a matter of fact it was establishing such millage at the time of adoption of the Council – Administrator form of Government. Thus, whether one concludes that Jasper County has the authority to make appropriations and levy taxes for the Jasper County School District by virtue of the express authorization contained in Section 6, Subsection 5 of Act No. 982, 1968 S.C. Acts at 2372, or finds and

concludes that the Jasper County Council has that authority by qualifying in fact and in law under the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-70 (1976), in either event, it seems clear that the authority to make appropriations for and to establish the millage for the operating budget of the Jasper County School District lies with the Jasper County Council, and the Jasper County Board of Education has no such power.

III. THE CONSTITUTIONAL ARGUMENTS WHICH ARE ADVANCED BY APPELLANT HAVE NOT BEEN PLED, ARE ABANDONED AND ARE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL.

Prior to reaching the Appellant's three Constitution based Arguments, identified as "D," "E," and "F," in it's Brief, pp. 16 - 18, it is appropriate to address the Respondent's additional sustaining grounds which all relate to whether these issues were asserted and pursued in this litigation and preserved for appeal. Each of the three Constitutional arguments is predicated on the assertion that by operation of the South Carolina Constitution either the County's power to make appropriations and levy taxes for educational purposes by way of Act No. 982 of 1968, supra, and/or the authority of the County pursuant to § 4-9-70 (1986) has been forfeit or that fiscal autonomy for the Appellant, as well as presumably all other South Carolina school districts, has become self-effectuating. Whatever the merits of those arguments, they are not properly before this Court because they have not been properly pled or asserted before the Court below, have been abandoned or have not been the subject of a motion to alter or amend judgment.

A. *The Appellant Did Not Plead any issues related to Article X of the Constitution.*

First, when the Complaint was served, it included in Paragraph 12, subsections b, d and f, each of which raised Constitutional questions with regard to the authority of Jasper County Council to make appropriations and to levy taxes for educational purposes. See Complaint, p. 4, R. p. 17. Subparagraph 12f, involved a claim of unconstitutional special legislation which has now been abandoned by the Appellants.¹² Subparagraph 12b of the Complaint appears to assert the same Article VIII claim argued in the Appellant's Brief, Argument subdivision E, p. 8. Subparagraph 12d of the Complaint asserts an Article XI claim similar to that argued in subdivision D of the Argument portion of Appellant's Brief, p. 6. However, the Article X argument made in subdivision F of the Argument portion of Appellant's Brief, p. 10, is nowhere pled in the Complaint and prior to Appeal has not been a feature of this case. The court below properly declined to enter judgment on the basis of Article X because the judgment must be in accordance with the pleadings of the party in whose favor it is rendered or it is fatally defective. Blackburn and Co., Inc. v. Dudley, 289 S.C. 415, 338 S.E.2d 151 (1985); Yarborough v. People's Nat., 162 S.C. 332, 160 S.E.844 (1931). This is because a primary purpose of a complaint is to apprise the opposite party of the nature of the action against it. Hunter v. Hyder, 236 S.C. 378, 114 S.E.2d 493 (1960); see also, Blackburn and Co., Inc. v. Dudley, *supra*. Thus, this Court should decline to consider any theory of appeal on the basis of Article X of the Constitution.

B. At the hearing of this case the Appellant abandoned any constitutional argument.

¹² See Brief of Appellant p. 8, n. 2,

None of these three Constitutional provisions was argued before the court below. Indeed, Counsel for the Appellant began his argument before the Circuit Court as follows:

We think that this is a case of statutory construction. It's narrow. It's not broad. It's based on pleadings. And there is a real controversy that is ripe for declaratory judgment on who has authority to decide what the amount and the tax rate for the school district's operational budget.¹³

* * *

"The other day - - a couple of days ago, we filed a supplemental memorandum that really zeroed in on what we thought was the most narrow statutory construction that was the best result in this case. We thought that it gave effect to all of the statutes, the both special laws that are just for Jasper County. It recognized the importance of the constitutional division between schools under Article 11, counties under Article 8, the Home Rule statutes, and how they would apply, so that nothing was really necessary for you to apply. You could apply the express language of each bill, give them all effect. They're all constitutional, and it's a narrow decision only affecting Jasper County.

So, I would like to just go through very briefly those statutes and how they fit together."¹⁴

In South Carolina, it is the law that an issue conceded in the court below may not be argued on appeal. CFRE, LLC, v. Greenville County Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 716 S.E.2d 877 (2011); TNS Mills, Inc., v. S.C. Dept. Rev., 331 S.C. 611, 503 S.E.2d 471 (1998). Here, at argument, the Appellants conceded that this was a case of statutory interpretation and abandoned any issue as to the alleged unconstitutionality of Act No. 982 of 1968, supra, or S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-70 (1986).

Moreover, the Respondent's Answer and Counterclaim in Paragraph 18¹⁵ specifically recognized that the Appellant had asserted the Constitutional claims found in

¹³ Tr. p. 6, lines 1-6, R. p. 56 lines 1-6.

¹⁴ Tr. p.6 line 21 through p. 7 line 10, R. p. 56 line 21 through p. 57 line 10.

¹⁵ See Answer and Counterclaim p. 4, R. p. 24.

the Complaint, the effect of which would have been to find unconstitutional one or more statutes or portions of statutes and could only be heard on declaratory judgment by service upon the Attorney General with a copy of the proceedings and providing him the right to be heard. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-80 (1977). At the hearing, following the completion of the argument of the Appellant, counsel for the Respondent addressed the Court as follows:

My colleague, Mr. Halligan, has told the Court that he views this now as a case of statutory interpretation. And as such, I read that to mean that the constitutional issues are off the table. And for that reason, I'm not raising the issue with regard to the Attorney General and his notice.¹⁶

Neither at that moment, nor at any other time during the hearing did Counsel for the Appellant state anything to the contrary. It has been held that a party may not complain on appeal of an error which his own conduct has induced. Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC, 368 S.C. 444, 629 S.E. 2d 653 (2006); Shearer v. DeShon, 240 S.C.472, 126 S.E.2d 514 (1962); Floyd v. Thornton, 220 S.C. 414, 68 S.E.2d 334 (1951). The court below recognized the narrow question before her, stating twice that this was a case of statutory interpretation.¹⁷ For these reasons, the Appellant has abandoned its claims under Article VIII, Article X and Article XI of the Constitution.

C. The Appellants motion to alter or amend judgment does not specifically address Article X or Article XI of the Constitution; therefore they are not preserved for appeal.

The Courts in South Carolina have reiterated on numerous occasions the proposition that if the losing party has raised an issue in the trial court, and if the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend judgment in order to

¹⁶ Tr. p. 18, lines 15-20, R. p. 68 lines 15-20.

¹⁷ See Order pp. 2 and 4, R. p. 4 & p. 6.

preserve the issue for appellate review. I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000); Rodriguez v. Gutierrez, 391 S.C. 323, 705 S.E.2d 94 (Ct. App. 2011); Shirley's Ironworks, Inc. v. City of Union, 397 S.C. 584, 726 S.E.2d 208 (Ct. App. 2010). The ruling of the court below must be explicitly stated. Nicholson v. Nicholson, 378 S.C. 523, 537, 663 S.E.2d 74, 82 (Ct. App. 2008); Doe v. Roe, 369 S.C. 351, 376, 631 S.E.2d 317, 330 (Ct. App. 2006). When the appellant fails to comply with this procedure in any respect, appellate review is waived. BMW of North America, LLC v. Complete Auto Recon Services, Inc., 399 S.C. 444, 731 S.E.2d 902 (Ct. App. 2012). Constitutional arguments are no exception to the preservation rules. Caldwell v. Wiquist, 402 S.C. 565, 576, 741 S.E.2d 583, 589 (Ct. App. 2013).

In the Appellant's notice of motion and motion to alter or amend judgment, paragraph 2 asks the Court to rule in its favor on the Article VIII claim that Act No. 982, 1968 S.C. Acts 2370 was rendered unconstitutional by adoption of the Home Rule Act. However, by the time of this motion, the Appellant had abandoned this argument in open court during the hearing which took place on September 19, 2013. No specific request related to Article X or XI of the Constitution was included in the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment.

In a case similar to the Article X and Article XI issues, Duncan v. CRS Sistine Engineers, Inc., 337 S.C. 547, 544, 524 S.E.2d 115, 119 (Ct. App. 1999), the Court explained, "To the extent Duncan relies on an implied warranty of workmanship theory, his contentions are not preserved for appeal because Duncan failed to plead the issue, failed to raise the issue to the Circuit Court, the Circuit Court failed to rule on the issue,

and Duncan failed to file a Rule 59(e), SCRP Motion.” For these reasons the Court should decline to consider the Article X or Article XI issues.

For all of these reasons the Court should decline to consider the Constitutional objections asserted under Article VIII, X or XI by the Appellants to application of Act No. 982 of 1968, supra, or to S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-70 (1986). Nevertheless, out of an abundance of caution we will now move to discuss each of the Appellant’s Constitutional objections.

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